Filed 10-24-2024

Page 1 of 27

FILED 10-24-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

Case Nos. 2024AP001789-CR, 2024AP001799-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

D.E.C.,

Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal from Order for Involuntary Treatment (Incompetency) Entered in the Clark and Jackson County Circuit Courts, the Honorable Anna L. Becker, presiding.

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

LUCAS SWANK Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1103010

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 267-5177 swankl@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Was the treatment plan sufficiently individualized to D.E.C. to justify involuntary medication to restore him to competency?

The circuit court found that the plan was individualized to D.E.C.

2. Was the treatment plan medically appropriate?

The circuit court found that the plan was medically appropriate.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

D.E.C. does not request oral argument as the case should be able to be decided on the briefs. D.E.C. does not request publication, as this Court recently recommended for publication a case dealing with substantially the same issues.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Treatment Plan

On July 19, 2024, the Department of Health Services ("DHS") filed a motion requesting that D.E.C.—who was previously found incompetent—be ordered to take involuntary medication to restore him

to competency. (R.68; App.7). Along with the motion, DHS filed an Individual Treatment Plan authored by doctors Benjamin Title and Marley Kercher. (R.69; App.8-11).

That treatment plan listed the following medications:

The following oral medications are proposed for treatment either in combination or in succession to restore the defendant's competency to stand trial: \boxtimes See additional materials (attached)

Name of Medication	Purpose	Dose Range
Aripiprazole	Treatment of symptoms of psychosis	= 30 mg/24hrs</td
Risperidone	Treatment of symptoms of psychosis	= 8 mg/24hrs</td
Paliperidone	Treatment of symptoms of psychosis	= 12 mg/24hrs</td
Olanzapine	Treatment of symptoms of psychosis	= 20 mg/24hrs</td
Haliperidol	Treatment of symptoms of psychosis	= 30 mg/24hrs</td
Fluphenazine	Treatment of symptoms of psychosis	= 40 mg/24hrs</td

The following medications are proposed to be given by injection if the defendant is unable or unwilling to take the proposed oral medication:

Name of Medication	Purpose	Dose Range
Aripiprazole LAI (Maintena)	Treat symptoms of psychosis	300-400 mg IM every 4 weeks
Paliperidone LAI (Invega)	Treat symptoms of psychosis	78-234 mg IM every 4 weeks
Haloperidol Decanoate	Treat symptoms of psychosis	100-400 mg IM every 4 weeks
Fluphenazine LAI	Treat symtoms of psychosis	12.5-100 mg IM every 2-3 weeks

(R.69:3; App.10).

 $^{^{1}}$ All record citations are to 2024AP001799, unless otherwise noted.

Haldol, IM	IM back up	= 10mg /refusal PO dose</th
Ziprasidone	IM back up	= 20mg /refusal PO dose</td
Olanzapine	IM back up	= 5mg /refusal PO dose</td
Cogentin	EPS	= 4 mg / 24 hrs PO</td
Hydroxyzine	EPS/anxiety/insomnia	= 400 mg / 24 hrs PO</td
Diphenhydramine	EPS/insomnia/anxiety	= 150 mg / 24hrs PO</td
Benzodiazepine (lorazepam, clonazepam, diazepam)	Agitation/severe anxiety/insomnia	= 10 mg / 24 hrs PO, IM if<br available and indicated based on response and within standard of care by peers
Propranolol	Akathisia	= 80 mg / 24 hrs PO</td

(R.69:4; App.11).

Testimony

At a hearing on the motion, Dr. Kercher—a psychiatrist at the Wisconsin Resource Center ("WRC")—testified. (R.84:5; App.16). After describing D.E.C.'s behaviors and opining that he has schizophrenia, (R.84:7-9; App.18-20), she opined that D.E.C. would be best treated with antipsychotic medications. (R.84:10; App.21). Dr. Kercher testified to having at least three discussions with D.E.C. regarding the "indications, benefits, and potential side effects" of medication, which "were largely met with nonresponse." (R.84:7; App.18). She did not believe D.E.C. understood the discussions nor could he make an informed choice regarding medication. (R.84:7-8; App.18-19).

Dr. Kercher testified the treatment plan would improve D.E.C.'s disorganized thoughts and decrease his paranoia. (R.84:11; App.22). She stated "there is a very high likelihood" that it would render him

competent. (R.84:11; App.22). She also opined that medications would be in his medical interest by leading to more appropriate behaviors and lesser restrictions at WRC. (R.84:12; App.23).

Regarding less intrusive methods, Dr. Kercher testified that WRC offered "psychoeducational components," but D.E.C. was not able to participate due to his mental illness. (R.84:11-12; App.22-23).

When asked "not necessarily each medication and what it does, but overall how the treatment plan would work," Dr. Kercher explained that two different types of antipsychotics were listed—first and second generation. (R.84:12-13; App.23-24). She stated that second-generation antipsychotics are typically used to treat individuals who are "antipsychotic naïve," i.e. not previously been they have treated antipsychotics, like D.E.C. (R.84:13; App.24). Dr. Kercher noted that one of the second-generation antipsychotics—aripiprazole—had been offered to D.E.C. (R.84:13; App.24). After listing possible side effects of this class of medications, Dr. Kercher opined that the benefits would outweigh any side effects. (R.84:14; App.25).

On cross-examination, Dr. Kercher testified that general practice is to begin patients on oral medications to assess tolerability, efficacy, and dosage before switching them to long-acting injectables. (R.84:16; App.27). She described this process as involving "robust trials" to see if a medication works before switching medications. (R.84:22, 26; App.33,

37). She said "we always start with the lowest possible dose and work upwards to [] achieve a balance of efficacy and tolerability." (R.84:26; App.37).

When confronted that the treatment plan did not discuss trialing medications or placing any restriction on the use of all of the medications listed, Dr. Kercher testified that she included more medications to allow staff at WRC flexibility in treatment. (R.84:20; App.31).

When asked about the appropriateness of including first-generation antipsychotics in the plan, given her testimony about antipsychotic-naïve individuals, she gave an example of when she might switch to them. (R.84:19; App.30). She would later say that if other medications were deemed ineffective or intolerable, the first-generation antipsychotics "could be added later to a treatment plan" but that she did not want to "eliminate those possibilities forever." (R.84:29; App.40).

Dr. Kercher conceded she did not have clinical data regarding D.E.C., but said that she:

would be very deliberative and cautious and careful with administrating medications individually and allowing each trial an adequate time to -- to assess for efficacy and side effects before switching, without careful consideration, to another medication.

(R.84:19-20; App.30-31). At the time of the hearing, she was not recommending trialing any medication other than aripiprazole. (R.84:16, 20; App.27, 31).

Dr. Kercher was then asked about specific medications. She first agreed that the FDA label for aripiprazole "states that daily dosages higher than 10 to 15 milligrams are not generally any more effective than [dosages] of 10 to 15[mg.]" (R.84:21; App.32). When asked why the treatment plan had a maximum dosage of 30mg, Dr. Kercher stated if the individual had a "suboptimal response" and no side effects, she felt it would be appropriate to go up to the manufacturer-determined maximum dosage. (R.84:21; App.32).

When asked a similar question regarding olanzapine, Dr. Kercher noted that she was including the "recommended maximal dosage range" by the manufacturer in the treatment plan. (R.84:25-26; App.36-37).

Trial counsel then asked whether Dr. Kercher was aware that "there's not been any safety testing performed" regarding doses of fluphenazine up to 40mg. (R.84:30; App.41). Dr. Kercher testified she was not aware of that—stating that she relied on a "commonly used prescribing textbook that we use, Stahl's" to get the maximum dosage, but did not look at the underlying studies.² Dr. Kercher then acknowledged that in her experience, dosages up to 20mg were usually effective, and she's "rarely used dosage beyond that." (R.84:30-31; App.41-42).

 $^{^2}$ Believed to be Stephen M. Stahl, Stahl's Essential Psychopharmacology Prescriber's Guide (Meghan M. Grady, $8^{\rm th}$ ed. 2024); (App.56-57).

Argument and Decision

The State began by arguing that D.E.C. was not competent to refuse medication. (R.84:32; App.43). It then argued the *Sell* factors. *See Sell v. U.S.*, 539 U.S. 166, 180-81 (2003). The State argued the "treatment plan is flexible to give WRC the best ability to help [D.E.C.]. He's not getting all those drugs all at once, they're starting with the least invasive and then going to more if needed." (R.84:33; App.44). The State went on that "it's important to allow the department flexibility in providing a specialized treatment plan for [D.E.C.]. I do not believe it would be appropriate for courts to micromanage such important things as one's mental health." (R.84:33; App.44).

The court began by outlining the case history as well as Dr. Kercher's testimony regarding D.E.C.'s behaviors and her experience as a psychiatrist. (R.84:36-37; App.47-48). The court then acknowledged it had to consider the *Sell* factors. (R.84:37-38; App.48-49); *infra* at 13-14.

The court discussed the charges D.E.C. was facing and found that they were "significant" and that there was an important interest in bringing him to trial. (R.84:39; App.50).

The court then summarized the testimony about how medications are trialed and Dr. Kercher's plan to start with aripiprazole. (R.84:39-40; App.50-51). The court stated it believed it was to D.E.C.'s benefit to have the medication plan as is, because DHS could immediately change medications, if they are harmful.

(R.84:40; App.51). The court went on to say how Dr. Kercher was knowledgeable, considering appropriate factors, and planned to treat D.E.C. as an individual. (R.84:40-41; App.51-52).

The court found that medications were likely to improve D.E.C.'s thought processes and symptoms, making them medically appropriate and in his best interest. (R.84:41-42; App.52-53). The court also found that D.E.C. was both not able to understand or apply an understanding of the advantages, disadvantages, or alternatives to medication to his situation. (R.84:42; App.53). The court found that medications were substantially likely to render him competent and substantially unlikely to undermine the fairness of trial. (R.84:43; App.54).

Finally, the court found that "less intrusive treatments would not achieve the same results and it is medically appropriate in light of his individual medical condition" and ordered involuntary medication in each case. (R.49; R.76; R.84:43; App.3-6, 54).

On July 29, 2024, D.E.C.'s trial attorney filed with this Court a Notice of Motion to Continue Stay in each case, pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 809.109(7)(b). (R.53; R.79) After briefing, this Court granted a stay of the medication order pending appeal in an order dated September 5, 2024. (R.89).

 $^{^{3}}$ In case 2024AP001789.

⁴ In case 2024AP001789.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

The proposed treatment plan in this case is unconstitutionally generic and aspects are not medically appropriate.

Individuals have "a 'significant' constitutionally protected 'liberty interest' in 'avoiding the unwanted administration of antipsychotic drugs." *Sell*, 539 U.S. at 178 (2003) (quoting *Washington v. Harper*, 494 U.S. 210, 221 (1990)). Therefore, the Constitution only permits the forcible administration of medications "in limited circumstances." *Id.* at 169. When the State seeks to involuntarily medicate a defendant in order to return him or her to competency, the court must apply the constitutional standard outlined by the Supreme Court of the United States in *Sell. State v. Fitzgerald*, 2019 WI 69, ¶13, 387 Wis. 2d 384, 929 N.W.2d 165 (citing *Sell*, 539 U.S. at 178).

The Court in *Sell* outlined four factors that must be met before the government may forcibly medicate a defendant to attempt to return them to competency. *Sell*, 539 U.S. at 179-80. Under *Sell*, a court may order involuntary medication to restore a defendant to competency only if the State proves—by clear and convincing evidence—that: (1) an *important* government interest is at stake; (2) involuntary medication will *significantly further* that interest; (3) involuntary medication is *necessary* to further that interest; and (4) administration of drugs is *medically*

appropriate, i.e., in the patient's best medical interest, given their medical condition. Sell, 539 U.S. at 180-81 (emphasis in original). To meet the second, third, and fourth requirements, the State must present "an individualized treatment plan" that applies to the particular defendant. State v. Green, 2021 WI App 18, ¶¶37-38, 396 Wis. 2d 658, 957 N.W.2d 583.

Because this appeal implicates D.E.C.'s due process rights, the issues present a question of constitutional fact which requires this Court to apply facts to the applicable constitutional standard in *Sell*. See State v. Woods, 117 Wis. 2d 701, 715, 345 N.W.2d 457 (1984); see also, Langlade Cnty. v. D.J.W., 2020 WI 41, ¶¶23-24, 391 Wis. 2d 231, 942 N.W.2d 277. Under that standard, this Court will uphold the circuit court's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous or against the great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence. D.J.W., 391 Wis. 2d 231, ¶24. Whether those facts meet the legal standard is a question of law reviewed de novo. Woods, 117 Wis. 2d 701, 716; D.J.W., 391 Wis. 2d 231, ¶25.

I. The proposed treatment plan was not sufficiently individualized to satisfy the second *Sell* factor.

The proposed treatment plan was unconstitutionally generic. To meet its burden under *Sell*, the State must present "an individualized treatment plan applied to the particular defendant." *Green*, 396 Wis. 2d 658, ¶38. Under *Green*, "it is not enough for the State to simply offer a generic

treatment plan." *Id.*, ¶34. Whether a treatment plan is sufficiently individualized relates to the second *Sell* factor—whether the drugs are "substantially likely" to render D.E.C. competent. *See id.*, ¶33.

"Sell requires an individualized treatment plan that, at a minimum, identifies (1) the specific medication or range of medications that the treating physicians are permitted to use in their treatment of the defendant, (2) the maximum dosages that may be administered, and (3) the duration of time that involuntary treatment of the defendant may continue before the treating physicians are required to report back to the court." *Id.*, ¶38 (internal citations omitted).

Here, the State offered exactly what *Green* warned against: a generic treatment plan and no meaningful restriction on length of treatment.

A. This treatment plan is unconstitutionally generic.

The treatment plan does not satisfy the individualization requirements of Sell and Green. The State cannot "offer a generic treatment plan with a medication and dosage that are generally effective for a defendant's condition." Green, 396 Wis. 2d 658, ¶34. "Such a practice would reduce orders for involuntary medication to a generic exercise," which is constitutionally insufficient. Id.

Here, the medication plan listed six antipsychotics to be administered orally, four more to be administered as long-acting injections, three more seemingly to be used as short-term injections if oral medications are refused,⁵ four medications for symptom management,⁶ and a medication for agitation.

While the identification of seven different antipsychotic medications is not problematic in itself, there needs to be evidence explaining how an unordered list of potential medications is individually tailored to a particular defendant. That is, if a specific order of medications is appropriate for a particular defendant, that needs to be explained to the circuit court, and if no order is appropriate, that needs to be explained to the circuit court.

State v. J.D.B., No. 2023AP715-CR, ¶58, slip op., (Wis. Ct. App., Sept. 10, 2024) (recommended for publication); (App.82). Here, the only specificity given regarding the treatment plan was that Dr. Kercher

⁵ "Seemingly" is used as there was no testimony regarding any of these medications and "refusal PO dose" was never defined or explained in the report or at the hearing. Undersigned counsel is guessing based on his own experience with these cases. (R.69:4; App.11).

⁶ Similar to the prior footnote, "EPS" was not defined or explained, but counsel believes it to refer to "extrapyramidal symptoms," or involuntary movements caused by the use of antipsychotics (and other drugs). (R.69:4; App.11); Ryan S. D'Souza, W M. Hooten, Extrapyramidal Symptoms, StatPearls Publishing (Jul. 31, 2023) https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK534115/ (last accessed Aug. 17, 2024). Counsel believes propranolol is another "EPS" medication, as "akathisia" is itself an extrapyramidal symptom. *Id*.

would recommend starting D.E.C. on aripiprazole. (R.84:20; App.31).

Such an extensive list with no discussion of how drugs will be administered cannot be considered a "particular course of antipsychotic drug treatment." *Sell*, 539 U.S. at 183.

Dr. Kercher's testimony revealed the generic nature of the plan by repeatedly discussing what is "typically" done, (R.84:13, 16, 31; App.24, 27, 42), and noting that the plan includes so many medications in order to give the State "flexibility," (R.84:20; App.31), to treat based on the doctors' judgment. (R.84:26; App.37). See J.D.B., 2023AP715-CR, ¶58 n.13; (App.82).

This Court's decision in *J.D.B.* highlights the problem. There was no evidence that a particular order would be tried—aside from aripiprazole first—nor was there evidence about whether "any particular order of medication, or no order at all, was appropriate as applied to [D.E.C.]." *J.D.B.*, 2023AP715-CR, ¶58; (App.82). Worth noting is that the entire second page of medications was never discussed. (R.69:4; App.11).

Beyond the dearth of information on what many of the medications are proposed for or how they would be used, the plan was designed in a way that is not allowed. Dr. Kercher testified the plan was meant to be overly inclusive and effectively delegate the responsibility in determining the appropriateness of specific medications to WRC staff and allow them to treat D.E.C. how they see fit with no meaningful

limitation. (R.84:20; App.31); Green, 396 Wis. 2d 658, ¶44; $U.S.\ v.\ Chavez$, 734 F.3d 1247, 1253 (10th Cir. 2013).

An example of this is Dr. Kercher's testimony that she determined the proposed dosages based on the maximum dosages recommended by (R.84:25-26; App.36-37). "Without manufacturer. more, this amounts to 'offer[ing] a generic treatment plan with a medication and dosage that are generally effective for a defendant's condition[,]' and we explained in *Green* that this is not adequate." J.D.B., 2023AP715-CR, ¶59 (quoting Green, 396 Wis. 2d 658, ¶34); (App.82-83).

The genericity of the exercise was demonstrated by the State's contentment to have Dr. Kercher only describe generally the side effects of antipsychotic medications and one medication specifically. (R.84:12-13; App.23-24).

The focus should be on "whether a particular drug given at a particular dosage for a particular duration is 'substantially likely' to render the defendant competent," *Green*, 396 Wis. 2d 658, ¶38, not antipsychotics at up to the maximum dosage are generally used to treat schizophrenia.

These plans are not formalities that allow DHS to treat D.E.C. the way it deems fit. Instead:

Circuit courts are required to determine whether the *Sell* factors have been met before ordering involuntary medication. Courts cannot delegate this responsibility to a treating provider. If courts could render an order for involuntary medication compliant with *Sell* merely by directing the treating providers to comply with the order "only if the provider determines that the treatment plan approved by the court is medically appropriate," all medication orders would satisfy *Sell*.

Id. at ¶44 (internal citation omitted). Here, the court did exactly that by leaving the treatment plan as is and relying on Dr. Kercher's statements about how D.E.C. would be medicated, rather than doing anything to enforce it (*i.e.* requiring a plan that discussed how medication trials will run, under what circumstances medications would be added or changed, etc.).

Instead, the court approved an order that still allows D.E.C. to be treated with up to eighteen medications at the maximum dosage with no actual guarantee or restriction to ensure appropriate use. A medication plan listing this many different medications without a detailed explanation and restrictions as to how medications will be chosen does

 $^{^7}$ D.E.C. acknowledges that plans need to be "broad enough to give physicians a reasonable degree of flexibility in responding to changes in the defendant's condition," $U.S.\ v.\ Hernandez-Vasquez$, 513 F.3d 908, 917 (9th Cir. 2008); however, a plan with this number of medications and no restriction on their administration other than the manufacturer recommended maximum dosage and trust in the State, is not sufficiently individualized. See Green, 396 Wis. 2d 658, ¶44; J.D.B., 2023AP715-CR, ¶¶55-59; (App.80-83).

Case 2024AP001789 Brief of Appellant Filed 10-24-2024 Page 20 of 27

not meet the "high level of detail" required by *Sell* and is unconstitutional. *Chavez*, 734 F.3d at 1252.

B. The reliance on statutorily required report dates is not sufficient.

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