Brief of Respondent

Filed 11-07-2024

Page 1 of 31

FILED 11-07-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

Case Nos. 2024AP1789-CR, 2024AP1799-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

D.E.C.,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM AN ORDER FOR INVOLUNTARY MEDICATION TO RESTORE THE DEFENDANT TO COMPETENCY, ENTERED IN THE CLARK AND JACKSON COUNTY CIRCUIT COURTS, THE HONORABLE ANNA L. BECKER, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

MICHAEL J. CONWAY Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1134356

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

This Court should affirm the involuntary medication order.

D.E.C.'s arguments challenging the involuntary medication order do not entitle him to relief. The Jackson County case has been dismissed, rendering the order moot with respect to that case. D.E.C.'s arguments do not entitle him to relief in the Clark County case. This Court should therefore affirm.

A. The Jackson County case is moot.

D.E.C.'s criminal case in Jackson County was dismissed by the prosecutor. Consequently, the involuntary medication order in the Jackson County case is now moot. Case 2024AP001789 Brief of Respondent Filed 11-07-2024 Page 14 of 31

"Generally, this Court will not review issues [that] are moot." Interlaken Serv. Corp. v. Interlaken Condominum Ass'n, Inc., 222 Wis. 2d 299, 304, 588 N.W.2d 262 (Ct. App. 1998). "An issue is moot when its resolution will have no practical effect on the underlying controversy." State v. Fitzgerald, 2019 WI 69, ¶ 21, 387 Wis. 2d 384, 929 N.W.2d 165 (quoting Portage Cty. v. J.W.K., 2019 WI 54, ¶ 11, 386 Wis. 2d 672, 927 N.W.2d 509). Thus, an expired initial commitment order is moot. See Matter of D.K., 390 Wis. 2d 50, ¶¶ 19, 22.

Because the Jackson County case was dismissed, the the initial commitment order and involuntary medication order in that case no longer have effect. This Court's resolution of the challenges to the involuntary medication order "will have no practical effect on the underlying controversy" in the Jackson County case. *Fitzgerald*, 387 Wis. 2d 384, ¶ 21 (citation omitted). Therefore, the issue is moot with respect to the Jackson County case.

There are exceptions to the mootness doctrine. However, D.E.C. does not acknowledge the dismissal of the Jackson County case, let alone argue that an exception to the mootness doctrine applies. D.E.C.'s failure to address the issue in his opening brief precludes him from establishing a mootness exception now because this Court does not consider arguments raised for the first time in a reply brief. *Van Oudenhoven v. Wis. Dep't of Justice*, 2024 WI App 38, ¶ 34, 413 Wis. 2d 15, 10 N.W.3d 402. This Court should dismiss the appeal with respect to the Jackson County case (Appeal No. 2024AP1789) as moot.

B. The State proved the *Sell* factors to justify involuntary medication in the Clark County case.

A defendant who is incompetent to stand trial may be subject to an involuntary medication order to bring him to competency. See Sell, 539 U.S. 166. Due process requires that a trial court may issue such an order only if it makes four specific findings or conclusions. Id. at 178–81. Those findings or conclusions pertain to: (1) an important governmental interest; (2) involuntary medication furthering the interest; (3) the necessity of medication; and (4) the medical appropriateness of the medication. Id. at 180–81.

"An individualized treatment plan is the necessary first step to fulfilling the second, third, and fourth Sell requirements." Green, 396 Wis. 2d 658, ¶ 37. This treatment plan must, at a minimum, identify

- (1) the specific medication or range of medications that the treating physicians are permitted to use in their treatment of the defendant, (2) the maximum dosages that may be administered, and (3) the duration of time that involuntary treatment of the defendant may continue before the treating physicians are required to report back to the court.
- *Id.* ¶ 38. In addition, "the court must consider the individualized treatment plan as applied to the particular defendant" and in light of the relevant circumstances, such as the defendant's history with psychotropic drugs and the defendant's medical record. *Id.*
- D.E.C. contends that the State did not satisfy its burden on *Sell* factors two and four because his proposed individualized treatment plan is inadequate. He argues that the individualized treatment plan is too generic to satisfy *Sell* factor two regarding whether involuntary medication will further the government's interest in restoring his

competency. (D.E.C.'s Br. 14–20.) He also argues that the individualized treatment plan is not medically appropriate as *Sell* factor four requires. (D.E.C.'s Br. 21–26.) His arguments are unavailing.

C. The circuit court did not clearly err in finding that the State satisfied *Sell* factor two.

The second *Sell* factor questions whether involuntary medication will significantly further the State's interest. *Sell*, 539 U.S. at 181. The answer is yes if (1) "administration of the drugs is substantially likely to render the defendant competent to stand trial," and (2) "administration of the drugs is substantially unlikely to have side effects that will interfere significantly with the defendant's ability to assist" in his defense. *Id*. "It is not enough for the State to simply offer a generic treatment plan with a medication and dosage that are generally effective for a defendant's condition." *Green*, 396 Wis. 2d 658, ¶ 34. Instead, "the circuit court must consider the defendant's particular circumstances and medical history." *Id*.

D.E.C. fails to demonstrate that the circuit court clearly erred by finding that the individualized treatment plan was sufficiently tailored to him as *Sell* factor two requires.

Dr. Kercher developed D.E.C.'s treatment plan based on a careful evaluation of him. (R. 84:10, 12.) She met with D.E.C. three times and another physician under her supervision met with him twice. (R. 84:7.) She reviewed two competency evaluations of D.E.C. and notes prepared by other staff members at the Wisconsin Resource Center. (R. 84:6, 8.) Both Dr. Kercher and these other staff members observed that D.E.C. was withdrawn, unresponsive, and paranoid. (R. 84:8–9.) Dr. Kercher knew that D.E.C. had been diagnosed with schizophrenia. (R. 84:7.) She recognized that he was

Case 2024AP001789 Brief of Respondent Filed 11-07-2024 Page 17 of 31

"antipsychotic naïve" because he had never previously taken antipsychotic medications. (R. 84:13.)

Dr. Kercher proposed treating D.E.C. with aripiprazole in light of these characteristics. Aripiprazole is a "secondgeneration" antipsychotic, which is typically appropriate for antipsychotic naïve patients like D.E.C. (R. 84:12–14, 17–18.) As a second-generation antipsychotic, aripiprazole also presented a lower risk of side effects, which further supported its use for an antipsychotic naïve patient like D.E.C. (R. 84:14.) Dr. Kercher explained that aripiprazole would help "to improve [D.E.C.'s] overall thought process" by treating "the receptors in the brain that we believe are related to psychosis." (R. 84:13.) This treatment would address the behavior that Dr. Kercher and her colleagues observed in D.E.C. by "dramatically improv[ing]" his thought process, organizing his thoughts, and reducing his paranoia. (R. 84:11.) These changes would, in turn, make D.E.C. "less isolative" and better positioned to engage with his care team and his attorney. (R. 84:11.)

If aripiprazole proved ineffectual or incompatible with D.E.C., Dr. Kercher provided additional antipsychotic medications to try instead. (R. 84:20.) Directly below aripiprazole, the individualized treatment plan listed three other second-generation antipsychotics. (R. 69:3; 84:17.) Dr. Kercher testified that she would begin a trial with one of these other antipsychotic medications if aripiprazole proved "not tolerable or efficacious" for D.E.C. (R. 84:16.) She was absolutely clear that she "would be very deliberative and cautious and careful" in trialing a medication "to assess for efficacy and side effects before switching ... to another medication." (R. 84:19.) She intended to begin treating D.E.C. only with aripiprazole but included the other secondgeneration antipsychotics in the plan in the event that aripiprazole was not compatible with D.E.C. (R. 84:16–20.) Because D.E.C. had no history with antipsychotics, Dr.

Case 2024AP001789 Brief of Respondent Filed 11-07-2024 Page 18 of 31

Kercher could not know with certainty how he would respond to any particular antipsychotic. (R. 84:19.)

Dr. Kercher also provided two first-generation antipsychotics in the individualized treatment plan—haloperidol and fluphenazine. (R. 69:3; 84:17–18.) She included these two medications in case D.E.C. suffered from a rare side effect from the second-generation antipsychotics—a decrease in his white blood cell count. (R. 84:19.) Because that side effect occurs less frequently with first-generation antipsychotics, Dr. Kercher wanted to retain the flexibility to switch to a first-generation antipsychotic if D.E.C.'s white blood cell count dropped while on a second-generation antipsychotic. (R. 84:19.)

Kercher explained why the individualized treatment plan provided for both oral and injectable medications. A medication trial would begin with oral medication on a daily basis to assess whether the medication was effective and whether it resulted in any side effects. (R. 69:3; 84:25.) After one antipsychotic proved effective, the treatment would switch to injectables, administered once every four weeks. (R. 69:3; 84:25.) Injectables were the most advisable form of medication in the long run because they typically resulted in better compliance, fewer relapses, and re-hospitalizations. (R. 84:24-25.) fewer Thus, the individualized treatment plan provided a means for D.E.C. to safely trial a medication with daily oral doses, and then transition to an injection every four weeks after a trial proved successful.

Similar to the list of antipsychotics, the proposed dose for each medication reflected Dr. Kercher's caution and desire for flexibility in treating the antipsychotic naive D.E.C. She proposed a dose range equivalent to the range of safe doses provided by the drug's manufacturer. (R. 69:3; 84:26.) Some patients, in her experience, required the maximum safe dose to achieve positive health outcomes. (R. 84:21–22, 26.) She

Case 2024AP001789 Brief of Respondent Filed 11-07-2024 Page 19 of 31

maintained, however, that she would "always start with the lowest possible dose and work upwards to, again, achieve a balance of efficacy and tolerability." (R. 84:26.) In other words, she aimed to medicate D.E.C. with the smallest possible dose that would be effective, which could only be determined after observing him on the medication. She could not be more specific because D.E.C. was antipsychotic naïve. (R. 84:19, 26.)

In sum, Dr. Kercher crafted an individualized treatment plan that would treat D.E.C.'s mental illness and reflect his lack of history with antipsychotics. She provided a clear initial plan—a trial with aripiprazole. In the event that aripiprazole did not work for D.E.C., she proposed other second-generation antipsychotics suitable for antipsychotic naïve patients. If D.E.C. suffered from a rare side effect from the second-generation antipsychotics, he could transition to one of her two proposed first-generation antipsychotics. Each medication trial would be cautious and aimed at determining the smallest possible effective dose for D.E.C. She could not be more certain about the ideal medication or dose for D.E.C. because he had no experience with antipsychotics. Given this uncertainty, Dr. Kercher's decision to prioritize flexibility in the treatment plan was in D.E.C.'s medical interest.

The circuit court readily recognized the legitimacy of the flexibility underpinning the treatment plan. It recognized that determining an individual patient's ideal medication and dose presented a "very individualized" issue. (R. 84:38.) The flexibility of the treatment plan worked to "[D.E.C.'s] benefit rather than to his detriment because it gives the doctor an opportunity to immediately change a medication if it could be harmful." (R. 84:40.) It agreed with Dr. Kercher's plan to administer medication to D.E.C. "carefully, thoughtfully, and in the least amount to achieve the maximum benefits." (R. 84:41.)

D.E.C. argues that the individual treatment plan was impermissibly generic because it listed six antipsychotics in the absence of evidence prescribing a firmly set order of medications. (D.E.C.'s Br. 16–17.) On this point, he relies on $State\ v.\ J.D.B.$, 2024 WI App 61, __ Wis. 2d __, __ N.W.2d __. In J.D.B., one of the several identified problems with the treatment plan was that it listed seven different antipsychotic medications without any explanation about how those medications were tailored to the defendant. Id. ¶ 58. D.E.C. argues that his list of antipsychotics is similarly defective.

J.D.B., however, is inapt. *J.D.B.* did not categorically bar a list of several medications in an individualized treatment plan. Rather, *J.D.B.* stated that, "if a specific order of medications is appropriate for a particular defendant, that needs to be explained to the circuit court." *Id.* Similarly, "if *no* order is appropriate, *that* needs to be explained to the circuit court." *Id.*

Here, Dr. Kercher explained why the individualized treatment plan did not provide a specific order beyond a directive to begin with aripiprazole. For one, whether D.E.C. would trial another listed medication depended on how he responded to aripiprazole. If aripiprazole was both effective and tolerable, no additional antipsychotic would be necessary. (R. 84:16.) If aripiprazole did not work for D.E.C., then the next medication to try would depend on the circumstances. If, for example, the aripiprazole was simply ineffective, it would make sense to try a different second-generation antipsychotic because those drugs cause less severe side effects and are more compatible with antipsychotic naïve patients like D.E.C. (R. 84:17–18.) However, if the aripiprazole caused a drop in D.E.C.'s white blood cell count, then the next trial would likely be a first-generation antipsychotic to avoid that side effect. (R. 84:19.) Dr. Kercher's testimony made clear that she could not know how D.E.C. would respond to aripiprazole since he had no prior experience with antipsychotics. (R. 84:19.) Consequently, she did not set a firm sequence of medications but created a contingency-based treatment plan. The sequence of medication trials turns on how D.E.C. responds to individual medications.

D.E.C. also argues that the flexibility provided by the range of doses renders the treatment plan too generic. (D.E.C.'s Br. 18–20.) D.E.C. again relies on *J.D.B.* (D.E.C.'s Br. 18.) *J.D.B.* determined that it was insufficient for the treatment plan to simply list the range of safe doses submitted by the manufacturer to the FDA. *J.D.B.*, 2024 WI App 61, ¶ 59. "Without more," this amounted to a "generic treatment plan." *Id.* (citation omitted). Because Dr. Kercher testified that she relied on these manufacturer guidelines, D.E.C. argues that *J.D.B.* compels reversal. (D.E.C.'s Br. 16–18.)

Unlike the doctor in *J.D.B.*, however, Dr. Kercher provided "more." She explained that she could not pinpoint a precise dose at this point because D.E.C. had no history of taking antipsychotics. (R. 84:19, 26–27.) As a result, she planned to start with the lowest possible effective dose and to increase it gradually if the lower dose proved ineffective. (R. 84:26.) She allowed for the possibility of providing the maximum safe dose according to the manufacturer because that dose was required for efficacy in some patients. (R. 84:21–22, 26.) She still intended to go no higher than necessary. (R. 84:26.)

The circuit court accepted this testimony as credible, finding that the plan did not direct providers "to give [D.E.C.] every one of these doses at the maximum dose." (R. 84:38.) Instead, the plan sought to use "the least amount" of medication "to achieve the maximum benefits." (R. 84:41.) These circuit court findings are not clearly erroneous and distinguish this case from *J.D.B.* The use of the manufacturer-provided dose ranges acknowledged that the appropriate dose for D.E.C. was uncertain since he had no

Case 2024AP001789 Brief of Respondent Filed 11-07-2024 Page 22 of 31

experience with antipsychotics. Without this flexibility, Dr. Kercher would be forced to pick a specific dose in ignorance, increasing the risk that she chose an inappropriately high dose.

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